UIdaho Law
Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-29-2013

917 Lusk, LLC v. City of Boise Appellant's Brief
Dckt. 41214

Statement of the Case 

I. NATURE OF THE CASE 

This is an appeal from a land use decision by the City of Boise (the "City") in which the 

Boise City Planning & Zoning Commission (the "P&Z Commission'') refused to follow the 

legislatively established process for reviewing a conditional use permit application. The district 

court, ruling on a petition for judicial review, upheld a decision of the Boise City Council (the 

"Council'") affirming the P&Z Commission's approval of a conditional use permit application 

filed by the Michaels Organization on November 28, 2011 with the City. R. pp. BC-181 to 193. 

The Michaels Organization requested the conditional use permit for a height exception to build a 

proposed student housing apartment project at 1004 West Royal Boulevard in Boise, Idaho (the 

"Project"). R. pp. BC-181 to 193. Approval of the height exception would allow the Michaels 

Organization's successor in interest, Royal Boulevard Associates LP ("Royal"), to construct the 

Project at nearly double the thirty-five foot height limit applicable to buildings in the Project's 

Residential Office District (with Design Review Overlay) zone ("R-O zone" or "R-OD zone"). 

R. pp. BC-141, 229 to 231, and 247. 917 Lusk, LLC ("Lusk") owns property and a building 

directly adjacent to the Project. R. pp. BC-81, 228, and 242. 

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

In fall 2011, the Michaels Organization applied to the City for permission to build a 

352,000 square foot apartment building with a footprint occupying the majority of approximately 

3.4 acres directly adjacent to the Boise River Greenbelt, Ann Morrison Park, and Lusk's 

property. R. pp. BC-181, 184-193, and 195. Because the Boise City Code prohibits buildings, 
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including apartment buildings, over thirty-five feet in the R-OD zone, Royal could only construct 

the Project at its proposed height of between fifty-nine and sixty-three feet if the City permitted 

the additional height after analyzing the conditional use under the complete process set forth in 

the City ordinances. R. p. BC-70; Boise City Code ('"BCC") §§ 11-04-05.06, 11-06-04.01, 11 

06-04.13, 11-06-04.14, and 11-06-06.12. 

The Project's purpose is to provide college student housing, and the additional height 

request would allow two additional stories of residential dwelling units doubling the number of 

residential stories the Project would include if it complied with the thirty-five foot height limit in 

the R-0D zone. R. pp. BC-141, 229 to 231, and 247. With the two additional stories (including 

approximately 156 bedrooms per story), the Project would contain 622 bedrooms, but only be 

served by 280 parking spaces. R. pp. BC-229 to 231 and 247. 

The Project is not a typical multi-family apartment involving one lease and one family 

unit because it is specifically marketed to students at Boise State University. Behind each front 

door at the Project are between 2 to 4 separately leased bedrooms. R. pp. 85. The scarcity of 

provided on-site parking generates a parking ratio of only .45 spaces per each leased bedroom 

unit. R. pp. BC-86 and 230. At the same time, evidence before the P&Z Commission showed 

that approximately sixty percent of college students own cars. R. p. BC-230. Sixty percent of 

the college students in 622 leased bedrooms equates to 373 students with 373 cars. Thus, the 

number of parking spaces provided at the Project (280 parking spaces) falls short of adequate 

parking by almost 100 parking spaces. 
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The additional height added to the Project (which created two additional habitable 

stories) requires the Project to undergo full conditional use scrutiny. Part of this analysis 

includes considering impact on the neighborhood. Parking in the neighborhood around the 

Project is already strained. Ann Morrison Park hosts a variety of high traffic events throughout 

the year. R. pp. BC-229 to 231 and 247. During the summer river floating season, soccer 

season, and other sports seasons, parking in Ann Morrison Park and along Royal Boulevard 

becomes heavily congested. R. pp. BC-229 to 231 and 247. Inadequate parking will adversely 

affect the businesses in the area (including Keynetics Inc., which is located in Lusk's building), 

and harm the public's ability to enjoy Ann Morrison Park and the Boise River Greenbelt. R. pp. 

BC-229 to 231 and 247. Students who cannot find parking within the housing Project will park 

at adjacent properties, including Lusk's property. R. pp. BC-84 to 88. As a result, Lusk and its 

neighbors will be forced to expend considerable time and resources policing the parking on their 

properties. R. pp. BC-229 to 231. Congested parking will also drive customers away from 

businesses in the area. R. pp. BC-229 to 231. 

All the foregoing evidence was in the record before the P&Z Commission and eventually 

the Council, yet they refused to consider it. When discussing the applicant's conditional use 

request for additional height, both City staff ("Staff') and the P & Z Commission noted other 

buildings "near by" the Project with heights greater than thirty-five feet, suggesting similar 

height in the area automatically means this particular conditional use should be permitted as a 

matter of right. R. pp. BC-128 and 136. Yet these "other buildings" were constructed in zones 

that allow heights greater than thirty-five feet. R. pp. BC-83, 228-229, and 246. Moreover, the 
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closest buildings are actually shorter than the proposed Project and not residential in nature. Id. 

Hm:vever. that is not the real issue. Regardless of whether the Project is similar to other 

buildings located near downtown and along the river, it is the use of the Project in the particular 

zone that requires scrutiny. Given the zoning for the project, the real question is whether the 

Project as used and parked poses adverse impacts to the surrounding neighborhood that can only 

be mitigated through appropriate conditions of approval. 

The City deliberately set the maximum height at thirty-five feet in the R-O zone. Anyone 

proposing to exceed that height must meet the City's strict procedure: "Conditional use approval 

from the Planning and Zoning Commission is required to exceed limits set forth in this 

ordinance. The Commission's decision on height exceptions shall be based upon the criteria set 

forth in Section 11-06-04.13." BCC § 11-06-06.12; see also BCC § 11-04-05.06.D. 1 These 

criteria include consideration of parking. BCC §§ 11-06-04.13 and 11-06.04.14.C. In other 

words, once a project, such as this, moves into conditional use territory, the City recognizes that 

adverse impacts including parking impacts can affect the surrounding neighborhood. The 

duty arises for the P&Z Commission to rigorously review the Project to determine if the Project 

must be conditioned in order to mitigate those impacts. 

1 Section 11-04-05.06.D provides "Height exceptions, except for roof line features meeting the 
standards of this section, shall require a commission-level conditional use permit in accordance 
with the provisions of Section 11-06-06.13 [sic] of the Boise City Code." BCC § 11-04-05.06.D. 
Although Boise City Code Section 11-04-05.06.D refers to Boise City Code Section 11-06-
06.13, the reference is a typo and should read "Section 11-06-06.12." 
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III. ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS 

"Conditional uses by definition possess characteristics such as to require review and 

approval by the IP&Z] Commission to determine whether or not the use would cause any 

damage, hazard, nuisance or other detriment to persons or property in the vicinity." BCC § 11-

06-04.01. The P&Z Commission possesses final authority to approve, deny, or modify a 

conditional use request only after imposing conditions needed to establish the criteria and 

findings of Boise City Code. BCC §§ 11-04-05.06.D, 11-06-04.04, 11-06-04.13, 11-06-04.14, 

and 11-06-06.12. 

Boise City Code sets out not once, but twice, that any increase in height limits must 

withstand the rigors of a P&Z Commission-level conditional use review. BCC §§ 11-04-05.06.D 

and 11-06-06.12. An approval for a height exception request may be granted only after review 

of all the conditional use criteria and findings, and the imposition of appropriate conditions 

necessary to establish those findings. The City legislatively determined that consideration of 

parking impacts is part of the conditional use permit analysis in both the regulations specific to 

the R-0 zone and in the general regulations specific to all conditional uses. BCC §§ 11-04-

05.06.D and 11-06-06.12. 

The Michaels Organization submitted an application for conditional use approval for its 

requested height exception, and the P&Z Commission originally set to hear the application on 

February 6, 2012. R. pp. BC-70, 181-193, and 195. The P&Z Commission on that date, 

apparently not realizing two members of the public had signed up to testify at the hearing, 

approved the Project in error as part of its "Consent Agenda" without hearing public testimony. 
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R. p. BC-70. To rectify the error. the P&Z Commission reconsidered its decision at its next 

public hearing. R. pp. BC-70 and 223. On February 13, 2012, the P&Z Commission heard from 

Staff, Michaels Organization's representatives, and Lusk's representative. R. pp. BC-223 to 226. 

The P&Z Commission continued the hearing to March 5, 2012 for additional testimony. R. pp. 

BC-226 to 227. 

Before the P&Z Commission took any testimony at the March 5, 2012 meeting, Staff 

erroneously instructed the P&Z Commission that: 'The application tonight only concerns the 

additional height requested by the applicant", and that potentially negative impacts of the Project 

due to exceeding the height limit of the R-0 zone, such as inadequate parking, were not an "issue 

before the Commission." R. p. BC-112. Staff gave this instruction despite the requirements of 

the Boise City Code to address such potential negative impacts through the conditional use 

process. The P&Z Commission Chair, Commissioner Stevens, compounded the erroneous 

direction from Staff by stating at the beginning of deliberations: 

I want to remind the Commissioners that the parking issue tonight is not actually 
before us. This Commission is not in position to make findings that require our 
applicant to be held to standards above that which is in our code. That would be 
arbitrary and would make the City be in some serious hot water, so I want to 
make sure that when we have our discussion tonight, that we keep the parking out 
of it. It is not before us. 

R. p. BC-126 (emphasis added). Commissioner Story echoed Commissioner Stevens' erroneous 

direction that the P&Z Commission should somehow divorce the additional height request from 

the complete conditional use process: 

Like you said parking is off the table. This complies. I can't say our code is 
correct on parking and the way it should be handled, but I think the rubber meets 
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the road where we're talking about height and that's really the only thing we have 
before us. 

R. p. BC-126. 

As a result, the P&Z Commission did not deliberate on the relationship between 

additional habitable height (achievable solely because of the conditional use height exception), 

the additional apartment bedrooms leased to individual college students, and the parking issues 

this \Vould create. Yet the overwhelming testimony and written evidence presented to the P&Z 

Commission demonstrated the Project was severely under-parked, that inadequate parking would 

adversely impact surrounding property owners, and that a conditional use permit for the 

requested additional height should not be granted - at least not without appropriate mitigating 

conditions of approval. R. pp. BC-112, 123 to 124, 229 to 231, and 247. Nevertheless, the P&Z 

Commission approved the conditional use application for a height exception at its March 5, 2012 

hearing, expressly not deliberating on the parking issues as required by the Boise City Code. R. 

pp. BC-106 to 11 1. 

Lusk timely appealed the P&Z Commission's decision to the Council. R. p. BC-80. 

Under the Boise City Code, the Council on an appeal from a final approval by the P&Z 

Commission may only consider the record before the P&Z Commission and not any new 

evidence. BCC § 11-03-07.05.F.5. The Council heard and denied the appeal on April 17, 2012. 

R. pp. BC-32 to 55 and 284 to 287. Contrary to the evidence in the record, the Council's 

"Reason for the Decision" concludes that "the public record from the Planning and Zoning 

Commission meeting revealed a robust discussion regarding parking." R. pp. BC-112, 126, and 

285. This conclusory statement completely disregards the fact that no robust discussion occurred 
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by the P&Z Commission about parking in fact, the P&Z Commission was instructed to not 

consider the issue and it did not. R. pp. BC-112 and 126. 

Lusk thereafter timely filed its Petition for Judicial Review with the district court. The 

district court affirmed the City's decision to approve the conditional use permit. R. pp. 000111 

to 000126. 

Issues Presented on Appeal 

1. Did the Council err in upholding the P&Z Commission's decision when the P&Z 

Commission refused to follow the conditional use procedure as set forth in Boise City 

Code? 

2. Were Lusk's substantial rights violated when the P&Z Commission and then the Council 

refused to follow the procedure established in Boise City Code for approving a 

conditional use? 

3. Did the P&Z Commission's "Reason for the Decision,'' which the Council approved as 

modified, fail to meet the requirements of Idaho Code Section 67-6535? 

Attorney Fees on Appeal 

Lusk is entitled to an award of attorney fees because the City's actions lacked a 

reasonable basis in fact and law. LC.§ 12-117(1) and (5). The City acted without a reasonable 

basis in fact or law when: (1) the P&Z Commission failed to follow procedures in Boise City 

Code necessary for establishing the conditional use permit criteria and findings; and (2) the 

Council ignored the facts of what occurred before the P&Z Commission. 
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Boise City Code clearly requires the P&Z Commission to make a decision on a 

conditional use height exception request by considering and deliberating on public testimony, 

and then conditioning the request as necessary to establish the conditional use criteria and 

findings. The P&Z Commission failed on both counts. The Council then ignored the record, 

claiming erroneously the P&Z Commission had performed a robust deliberation, and failed to 

remand back to the P&Z Commission so it could do its job. Because the P&Z Commission and 

the Council clearly acted without a reasonable basis in fact or law, Petitioner is entitled to an 

award of attorney fees. 

Argument 

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

The Local Land Use Planning Act, Idaho Code Sections 67-6501 to 67-6538, ("LLUPA") 

allows an affected person to seek judicial review of an approval or denial of a land use 

application, as provided in the Idaho Administrative Procedures Act, Idaho Code Sections 67-

5201 to 67-5292 ("IDAPA"). Evans v. Teton County, 139 Idaho 71, 74, 73 P.3d 84, 87 (2003). 

An affected person is one having an interest in real property that may be adversely affected by 

the issuance or denial of a permit authorizing development. I.C. § 67-6521(1) (a). "For purposes 

of judicial review of LLUP A decisions, a local agency making a land use decision is treated as a 

government agency under IDAP A." Crown Point Dev., Inc. v. City of Sun Valley, 144 Idaho 72, 

75, 156 P.3d 573,576 (2007). 

The Idaho Supreme Court reviews decisions of any intermediate court sitting in an 

appellate capacity independently under IDAPA, reviewing the agency record independently of 
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any previous decision on judicial review. In re Jerome County Bd. of' Comm 'rs, 153 Idaho 298, 

307,281 P.3d 1076, 1085 (2012). 

The decision of a zoning authority will be overturned if the Court finds the zoning 

authority's findings. inferences, conclusions, or decisions are: (a) in violation of constitutional or 

statutory provisions; (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency; ( c) made upon 

unlawful procedure; (d) not supported by substantial evidence in the record; or (e) are arbitrary, 

capricious or an abuse of discretion. LC.§ 67-5279(3). The requirements of procedural due 

process apply to land use matters, including proceedings on conditional use applications. 

Hawkins v. Bonneville County Bd. of' Comm 'rs, 151 Idaho 228,254 P.3d 1224 (2011); Cowan v. 

Bd. ofComm'rs of Fremont County, 143 Idaho 501,510, 148 P.3d 1247, 1256 (2006). 

The role of the reviewing court is to evaluate the process by which the zoning decision 

was reached, consider whether substantial evidence supported the factual findings, and evaluate 

the soundness of the legal reasoning advanced in support of the decision. Jasso v. Camas 

County, 151 Idaho 790, 795, 264 P.3d 897, 902 (2011). The approval or denial of a zoning 

application must be vacated when it is not accompanied by a reasoned statement plainly stating 

the resolution of factual disputes, does not identify the evidence supporting that factual 

determination, and does not explain the basis for legal conclusions, including identification of 

the pertinent laws and/or regulations upon which the legal conclusions rest must be vacated. Id. 

II. THE COUNCIL ERRED IN UPHOLDING THE P&Z COMMISSION'S DECISION BECAUSE 
THE P&Z COMMISSION REFUSED TO FOLLOW THE CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT 

PROCEDURE REQUIRED BY BOISE CITY CODE. 
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A. Boise City Code Provides a Clear Procedure {or Reviewing a Conditional Use Request to 
Exceed the Maximum Height in a Zone. 

The legislatively adopted language of Boise City Code clearly and unambiguously 

requires that any request for a height increase above the height limit of any zoning district will 

only be granted after an applicant has successfully demonstrated that all of the conditional use 

criteria and findings are met, and that the particular project can be appropriately conditioned to 

meet those findings. BCC §§ 11-04-05.06D and 11-06-06.12. The language of Boise City Code 

is also clear and unambiguous regarding the procedure for reviewing any conditional use request, 

including a request for a height exception. BCC §§ 11-06-04.13 and 11-06-04.14. A request for 

a conditional use height exception does not receive a lower level of scrutiny it is the same as 

any other conditional use. 

A full public hearing and deliberation on all of the issues and findings must be based on 

all of the criteria set forth in Section 11-06-04.13. Boise City Code Section 11-06-04.13 

provides in pertinent part: 

The Commission, following the procedures outlined below, may approve a 
conditional use permit when the evidence presented at the hearing is such as to 
establish: 

A. That the location of the proposed use is compatible to other uses in the 
general neighborhood; and 

B. That the proposed use will not place an undue burden on transportation 
and other public facilities in the vicinity; and 

C. That the site is large enough to accommodate the proposed use and all 
yards, open spaces, pathways, walls and fences. Parking, loading, 
landscaping, and such other features as are required by this title; and 

D. That the proposed use, if it complies with all conditions imposed, will 
not adversely affect other property of the vicinity; and 
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E. That the proposed use is in compliance with and supports the goals and 
objectives of the Comprehensive Plan. 

BCC § 11-06-04. I 3 ( emphasis added). In addition to the review of the criteria set forth in Section 

11-06-04.13, the P&Z Commission ''shall provide that approval of a conditional use permit shall 

be contingent upon compliance with specified conditions, including but not limited to ... 

requirements for off-street parking." BCC § 11-06-04.14 (emphasis added); see also I.C. § 67-

6512(d). 

This does not mean additional parking conditions must always be a condition of 

approval. 2 It does mean, however, that circumstances surrounding the request, including off­

street parking, require thorough review by the P&Z Commission to determine if parking is 

adequate for the proposed Project (and its two additional habitable stories above what is allowed 

by right). If parking is not adequate, the P&Z Commission imposes conditions to establish the 

conditional use criteria and findings. See I.C. § 67-6512(d)(7) (allowing conditions of approval 

more restrictive than those generally required); BCC §§ 11-06-04.01, 11-06-04.04, 11-06-04.13, 

and 11-06-04.14. This procedure protects other uses in the surrounding neighborhood by 

2 Parking ratios for a particular allowed use might be appropriate for certain conditional uses. In 
this case, the application of the parking ratio for allowed uses in the R-O zone to this particular 
conditional use would have a severe detrimental impact on the persons and property of the 
surrounding neighborhood. Regardless, even if the allowed use standards sufficed, the issue is 
this: the P&Z Commission cannot - as it did here - just assume the allowed use parking ratio 
fits all conditional use requests without deliberation. The P&Z Commission has an obligation to 
explore the circumstances surrounding the conditional use request and make a reasoned 
determination that may include conditions of approval. This the P&Z Commission did not do.

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