UIdaho Law
Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-23-2013

**917 Lusk, LLC v. City of Boise Respondent's Brief
Dckt. 41214**

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Introduction

Lusk has devoted the majority of its argument to alternative theories of procedural error, asserting that the City Council's approval of the River Edge height exception: failed to follow proper conditional use permit procedure; failed to consider enough parking information and the parking standards; failed to consider the neighbors' parking concerns; and failed to provide a

reasoned decision that meets the requirements of Idaho Code § 67-6535. Also, Lusk asserts that the procedural errors amount to prejudice to substantial rights. These claims are addressed in more detail below.

B. Standard of Review

LLUPA allows judicial review of a final decision of a land use application for an affected person, as provided in the Idaho Administrative Procedure Act (IAPA). Idaho Code § 67-6521(1)(d); *In re Jerome County Bd. of Com'rs*, 153 Idaho 298, 307, 281 P.3d 1076, 1085 (2012). The issuance of special or conditional use permits is allowed by Idaho Code § 67-6512 and includes exceptions or waivers of standards for building height as addressed by Idaho Code § 67-6516.¹ Therefore, a party aggrieved by a decision of the City Council approving a conditional use permit for a height exception may seek judicial review under the provisions of IAPA.

In an appeal from a district court decision in which the district court was acting in its appellate capacity under the IAPA, the Supreme Court reviews the agency record independently of the district court's decision. *In re Jerome County*, 153 Idaho at 307, 281 P.3d at 1085. As to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact, the Court shall not substitute its judgment for that of the zoning agency. Idaho Code § 67-5279(1). “The Court defers to the agency’s findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous and the agency’s factual determinations are binding on

¹ Idaho Code § 67-6512 (f) provides:

In addition to other processes permitted by this chapter, exceptions or waivers of standards, other than use, inclusive of the subject matter addressed by section 67-6516, Idaho Code, in a zoning ordinance may be permitted through issuance of a special use permit or by administrative process specified by ordinance, subject to such conditions as may be imposed pursuant to a local ordinance drafted to implement subsection (d) of this section.

the reviewing court, even when there is conflicting evidence before the agency, so long as the determinations are supported by evidence on the record.” *Neighbors for a Healthy Gold Fork v. Valley County*, 145 Idaho 121, 126, 176 P.3d 126, 131 (2007). “There is a strong presumption favoring the validity of a governing board’s zoning decisions, including its application and interpretation of its own zoning ordinance.” *Marcia T. Turner, L.L.C. v. City of Twin Falls*, 144 Idaho 203, 209, 159 P.3d 840, 845-846 (2007); *see also, In re Jerome County*, 153 Idaho at 308.

C. Lusk Fails to Prove Any Prejudice to Substantial Rights

Idaho Code § 67-5279(4) requires that the agency action “be affirmed unless substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced.” On a number of occasions, this Court has noted there is no IAPA requirement that courts address the requirements of Idaho Code § 67-5279(3) and Idaho Code § 67-5279(4) in any particular order. *See, Hawkins v. Bonneville County Bd. of Com’rs*, 151 Idaho 228, 232, 254 P.3d 1224, 1228 (2011); *Krempasky v. Nez Perce County Planning and Zoning*, 150 Idaho 231, 235-236, 245 P.3d 983, 987-988 (2010); *Kirk-Hughes Dev., LLC v. Kootenai County Bd. of County Com’rs*, 149 Idaho 555, 557-558, 237 P.3d 652, 654-655 (2010). Therefore, this Court can affirm the City Council’s decision solely on the grounds that Lusk has failed to prove prejudice to substantial rights. *Hawkins*, 151 Idaho at 232. The Court may completely “forego analyzing whether the governing board erred in a manner specified by Idaho Code § 67-5279(3) if the petitioner cannot show that his or her substantial rights were violated.” *Id.* The City believes the issue of substantial rights is dispositive and will address it first.

1. The City Council adopted a reasoned decision that meets the requirements of Idaho Code § 67-6535 and abides by this Court’s ruling in *Jasso v. Camas County*.

This Court has affirmed that “all the parties involved in a land-use decision have a substantial right to a reasonably fair decision-making process” that is “free from procedural defects that might reasonably have affected the final outcome.” *Id.* In addition to notice and the opportunity to be heard before an impartial decision-maker, “[d]ue process also requires that parties be afforded a meaningful opportunity for judicial review.” *Jasso v. Camas County*, 151 Idaho 790, 796, 264 P.3d 897, 903 (2011). This is accomplished with the adoption of a reasoned statement in conformance with Idaho Code § 67-6535. *Id.*

Lusk does not allege improper notice or a failure to present evidence. Certainly, the agency record is clear there was adequate notice and fair hearings wherein P&Z and City Council received substantial amounts of evidence about River Edge from the parties associated with Lusk. (R. p. 000132, Ex. 1, Tr. 4/17/2012 Boise City Council Hearing, pp. 2-11, 26-31, 33-34; R. p. 000132, pp. BC-81 through BC-95, BC-120 through BC-124, BC-224 through BC-225, BC-228 through BC-231, BC-239 through BC-261.) The impact of that evidence is highlighted by the fact the City Council took active steps to require River Edge to increase the number of bicycle parking spaces. (R. p. 000132, Ex. 1, Tr. 4/17/2012 Boise City Council Hearing, pp. 36-37, 39; R. p. 000132, Ex. 1, p. BC-285.)

Rather, Lusk claims that the City Council’s Reason for Decision “fails to meet the basic requirements of a reasoned written statement required by LLUPA.” (R. p. 000132, Ex. 1, p. BC-284-85; Appellant’s Br., p. 27.) In order to satisfy the “reasoned statement” requirement of Idaho Code § 67-6535, the decision-maker must articulate in writing the facts found, the

conclusions reached, and the rationale underlying the decision. *Jasso v. Camas County*, 151 Idaho 790, 794, 264 P.3d 897, 901 (2011).

Idaho Code § 67-6535 provides:

The approval or denial of any application required or authorized pursuant to this chapter shall be in writing and accompanied by a reasoned statement that explains the criteria and standards considered relevant, states the relevant contested facts relied upon, and explains the rationale for the decision based on the applicable provisions of the comprehensive plan, relevant ordinance and statutory provisions, pertinent constitutional principles and factual information contained in the record.

Idaho Code § 67-6535(2).

Lusk relies on *Jasso v. Camas County* to elevate its simple displeasure in the City Council’s decision into prejudice to substantial rights – but this reliance is flawed. In *Jasso*, this Court found there was “utter failure” on the part of the Camas County Board of Commissioners to provide a decision that could facilitate judicial review. *Jasso*, 151 Idaho at 797. “Due to the inadequacy of the Board’s findings and conclusions, neither the district court nor this Court possesses the information necessary to meaningfully review the Board’s approval of the preliminary plat application.” *Id.* In that failure, this Court found prejudice to the parties’ substantial right to due process. *Id.* The same cannot be said for the situation at hand.

A review of the agency record reveals that the City Council adopted a reasoned statement that meets the standard set forth in Idaho Code § 67-6535 as explained by *Jasso*. At a minimum, the City Council could have simply adopted P&Z’s “Reason for the Decision” to conform to Idaho Code § 67-6535. (R. p. 000132, Ex. 1, pp. BC-108 through BC-111; *Cowan v. Board of Com’rs of Fremont County*, 143 Idaho 501, 511, 148 P.3d 1247, 1257 (2006)). But the City Council went further with its own reasoned statement, articulating its own rationale based on

relevant law and facts as required by Idaho Code § 67-6535. After review of the record and consideration of extensive testimony about parking standards and parking concerns, the City Council did formally adopt its Reason for Decision that clearly articulates acceptance of the original findings adopted by the P&Z and which adopts additional language as a result of the City Council hearing. (R. p. 000132, Ex. 1, pp. BC-121 through BC-122, BC-114 through BC-115, BC-125, BC-284; BC-285 [top of page, “New Language from City Council”; R. p. 000132, Ex. 1, Tr., 4/17/2012 Boise City Council Hearing, pp. 6-11, 17-19, 21-23, 25, 27, 29-34.) In total, the Reason for Decision expresses the elements the City Council considered, the facts measured as important, and the zoning ordinance standards used and interpreted. Furthermore, the City Council added thirteen (13) site-specific and ten (10) standard Conditions of Approval deemed necessary and appropriate for the River Edge CUP – clear evidence of the City Council’s thoughtful consideration of River Edge. (R. p. 000132, Ex. 1, pp. BC-285 through BC-287.)

In sum, the City Council’s action satisfied both Idaho Code § 67-6535 (2) and the reasoning of *Jasso*. The City Council’s Reason for Decision is sufficient, “because it included the criteria and standards [the City Council] considered relevant, provided detailed facts, and explained its rationale for its decision.” *Cowan*, 143 Idaho at 512, 148 P.3d at 1258. This Court, in turn, is “directed to consider the proceedings as a whole and to evaluate the adequacy of procedures and resultant decisions in light of practical considerations with an emphasis on fundamental fairness and the essentials of reasoned decision-making.” Idaho Code § 67-6535(3). The City Council’s reasoned statement was comprehensive and complete – and, despite efforts to

persuade this Court to the contrary, Lusk's claims of prejudice to substantial rights based on an insufficient reasoned statement are erroneous. (Appellant's Br., pp. 26-28.)

2. As the non-applicant appellant, Lusk has failed to prove prejudice to substantial rights.

Since the City Council's actions for River Edge satisfy the due process requirements of notice, an opportunity to be heard before an impartial decision-maker, and a reasonable opportunity for judicial review, non-applicant appellant Lusk must "show something more in order to prove prejudice of a substantial right under Idaho Code § 67-5279(4). Lusk limits its argument to the assertion that "due process and a procedurally fair decision are substantial rights of even a non-applicant petitioner." (Appellant's Br., p. 24.) This assertion completely misinterprets and disregards the significant distinctions articulated in this Court's decision in *Hawkins v. Bonneville County Board of Commissioners*, 151 Idaho 228, 254 P.3d 1224 (2011).

The decision in *Hawkins* makes it clear there is a difference between the permit applicant and the non-applicant opponent on the subject of substantial rights, pointing out that the non-applicant opponent cannot claim harm to a substantial right merely in the substantive misapplication of an ordinance:

[W]hen a petitioner *opposes* a governing board's decision to grant a permit authorizing development, as Hawkins has, the petitioner must still show, not merely allege, real or potential prejudice to his or her substantial rights. Since a party *opposing* a landowner's request for a development permit has no substantial right in seeing someone else's application adjudicated correctly, he or she must therefore show something more. The petitioner opposing a permit must be in jeopardy of suffering substantial harm if the project goes forward, such as a reduction in the opponent's land value or interference with his or her use or ownership of the land. It would be instructive to look to law relating to property rights, nuisance, and trespass when determining if a substantial right is at stake in a case such as this.

Thus, (...) it is not enough that Hawkins may be able to show that the County substantively misapplied its own ordinance. The Board does not prejudice

Hawkins' substantial rights merely by incorrectly adjudicating someone else's application for a variance. (internal citations omitted)

Hawkins, 151 Idaho at 233.

Lusk, as the non-applicant opponent in the case at hand, cannot claim harm to a substantial right by merely asserting that the City Council failed to condition the River Edge height exception on each standard contained in Boise City Code § 11-06-04.14. (Appellant's Br., p. 25.) *Hawkins* is clear Lusk has no such right to seeing Royal's application adjudicated correctly.²

In the time since *Hawkins*, the Idaho Court of Appeals has provided a helpful interpretation that a court's review of harm to substantial rights under Idaho Code § 67-5279(4) must involve consideration of the dual components of prejudice and standing. *State Transp. Dept. v. Kalani-Keegan*, 155 Idaho 297, ___, 311 P.3d 309, 314-15 (Ct. App. 2013) (“The *Hawkins* Court references and requires, as to opposing or interested parties such as Hawkins who was a neighbor to the property but not an applicant, demonstration of both the materiality of the harm and the existence of a substantial right.”) The right to notice and a chance to participate is the standing component or “the materiality of the harm” – the City does not dispute Lusk has standing. *Kalani-Keegan*, 311 P.3d at 314. As the District Court noted, Lusk was entitled to

² The City asserts the P&Z was never required, by the plain language of the ordinance, to condition the River Edge CUP on Boise City Code § 11-06-04.14. This is especially true in light of the parking standards set forth in Boise City Code § 11-10-01.01, Table 1, which were applicable to and met by Royal. If the language of an ordinance is unambiguous (where reasonable minds do not differ nor are uncertain as to its meaning), an ordinance is given its plain meaning. See, *Jasso v. Camas County*, 151 Idaho 790, 798, 264 P.3d 897, 905 (2011).

If the P&Z had been required to condition the CUP on Boise City Code § 11-06-04.14, following Lusk's logic, the CUP would have been required to have conditions related to, for example, noise and vibration (*see*, § 11-06-04.14(D)) and hours of operation (*see*, § 11-06-04.14(E)).

specific notice of Royal’s height exception for River Edge due to proximity to the project. (R. p. 000117.) Those “statutorily provided rights to notice and a chance to participate” is the standing component of Idaho Code § 67-5279(4). *Kalani-Keegan*, 311 P.3d at 314.

But Lusk fails to prove the second component: “the existence of a substantial right.” *Id.* at 314-315. This is the “something more” that the *Hawkins* Court demanded of the non-applicant appellant. *Hawkins*, 151 Idaho at 233. If one assumes that the decision-making process was fair, the owner-applicant has “a substantial right to develop their own property.” *Id.* In *Hawkins*, this Court proposed that a determination on the substantial rights of the non-applicant appellant could be made by looking to evidence about property rights, nuisance, or trespass. *Id.* At present, Lusk has provided only speculation and conjecture: “As a result, Lusk will suffer a loss in property value as well as the expenditure of considerable time and money policing parking on its own property.” (Appellant’s Br., p. 25.) The District Court confirmed that Lusk failed to make any specific argument about its own unique substantial rights. (R. p. 000124.)

This Court should re-affirm its “something more” reasoning from *Hawkins*, affirm the Court of Appeal’s explanation in *Kalani-Keegan*, and find that Lusk has provided nothing more than conclusory allegations of prejudice to imagined substantial rights. The extent of Lusk’s affected property interests would be critical to determining prejudice to substantial rights, but those interests are not before the Court. *See, Hawkins*, 151 Idaho at 234. This case is not a civil action regarding property rights, it is a petition for judicial review under IAPA. Therefore, the only matter at issue is the propriety of granting a height exception to Royal to build River Edge as it is designed. Within these strict parameters, non-applicant appellant Lusk has failed to meet

its burden under Idaho Code § 67-5279(4) and, regardless of any other facts argued, this Court can affirm the City Council's decision and dismiss Lusk's appeal instantly. *Id.*, at 232.

D. The City Council did not commit error in its approval of the River Edge CUP.

In addition to Lusk having to prove that its substantial rights were prejudiced in accordance with Idaho Code § 67-5279(4), Lusk must prove that there was error in at least one of the standards of review set out in Idaho Code § 67-5279(3) when the City Council affirmed the P&Z decision and approved the height exception for River Edge.³ Lusk has failed to meet this burden.

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